FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/4/2018 4:51 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/4/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95863-7 Court of Appeals Case No. 75593-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

RYAN R. HOWARD,

Appellant,

v.

OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, et al.,

Respondents.

APPLELLANT'S AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Melissa A. Huelsman, WSBA #30935 Attorney for Ryan R. Howard Law Offices of Melissa A. Huelsman, P.S. 705 Second Avenue, Suite 601 Seattle, WA 98104 206-447-0103

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

See Attachment A.

Factual History

Mr. Howard, acting through a lawyer and then *pro se*, has been challenging the ability of his loan servicer, Ocwen Loan Servicing, Inc.

("Ocwen") and Deutsche Bank, as Trustee of the IndyMac INDA Mortgage Loan Trust 2007-AR7, Mortgage Pass Through Certificates, Series 2007-AR7 ("Deutsche"), the alleged loan owner and noteholder, to foreclose on his former home for years. He first filed a lawsuit in 2011 and following entry of a final judgment, that case was appealed (Case No. 76276-I). Mr. Howard filed another appeal pending with the Court of Appeals under Case No. 75593-I, which resulted in a Petition for Review to this Court (Case No. 70629-2-I), acting *pro se*.

Mr. Howard is a computer professional who had some financial problems several years ago that caused him to fall behind on his mortgage. CP 3. When foreclosure proceedings were commenced in early 2011, Mr. Howard filed the lawsuit against Deutsche and others. *Id.* Ultimately that case was the subject of the other appeals.

By May of 2015, appeals and lawsuits relating to the foreclosure were pending in the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court. CP 1-11.

On May 21, 2015, counsel for Ocwen (loan servicer) sent Mr. Howard an offer of a permanent loan modification. CP 1-11; 97-100. To accept the offer, Mr. Howard was required to sign the loan modification and a settlement agreement and release, which required dismissal of all of the pending litigation without an award of attorneys' fees and costs to either party. Mr. Howard weighed his options and the fact that he wanted to keep

his house and get on with his life, so he signed. CP 1-11; 57-78; 97-100.

Acceptance of the terms was due on June 1, 2015, but Mr. Howard asked for an extension. CP 1-11; 57-78. Counsel for Ocwen agreed to a ten (10) day extension, on the condition that if he accepted, it would be treated as though he had done so by June 1, 2015. *Id.* Mr. Howard agreed and exchanged emails with Ocwen's attorney about the documents for several days. On June 10, 2015, Mr. Howard signed and returned the documents along with a cashier's check for the first payment due. CP 1-11; 71-78. He sent the second payment, due on July 1, 2015, on June 28, 2015, to the address in the agreement and the check was cashed. *Id.*

In July 2015 Mr. Howard asked for copies of the completed documents and did not receive them. CP 1-11. Instead, he received an email from an Ocwen attorney asserting for the first time that the loan modification could not be completed because of alleged title insurance issues. Ms. Edling's email, dated July 17, 2015, indicated he had thirty days to get title to the property "clear" if he "wished to proceed with the loan modification", with no further explanation. CP 4-5.

Emails exchanged with Ms. Edling between July 17-23, 2015 make clear that Ocwen was falsely contending that junior liens somehow prevented Deutsche, a first position lienholder, from having clear title to the property. Ocwen was contending, in contravention of Washington law,

that its position was compromised such that a title insurance company could not give it clear title in the event of a foreclosure. CP 79-87. In reality, the title document eventually provided, which was **not** a title report, merely listed all **potential** liens on the property which would affect Mr. Howard's ability to sell or transfer the property, but they had no impact whatsoever upon Deutsche's lien rights in the event of a subsequent foreclosure. Mr. Howard noted in his July 24, 2015 email that Deutsche had already completed a judicial foreclosure of the property which was going to be "unwound" as a result of the settlement. Deutsche would be reinstated to its first lien position because the Deed of Trust would have remained in effect once the Judgement of Foreclosure was vacated. *Id.* CP 90-96. Title for Deutsche was demonstrably "clear".

The referenced document was nothing more than a lien and encumbrance search. CP 90-96. It incorrectly listed title as being vested in Mr. Howard on **June 19, 2015** – information that Ocwen and Deutsche knew was not true. CP 91. Title had transferred to Deutsche on **June 10, 2013** (CP 160-164), as evidenced by the Decree of Foreclosure, Sheriff's Levy on Real Property and Order of Sale, and Order Confirming Sheriff's Sale recorded as Document No. 20131021000790, making clear the identity of the current title holder. CP 92.

The Lien and Encumbrance Search is not what the defendants

represented it to be – a prohibition on Deutsche vacating the Judgment of Foreclosure and resuming its first lien position unless other potential liens are satisfied. CP 229-254.¹ The Lien and Encumbrance Search is dated **June 19, 2015** – almost one month before Ms. Edling notified Mr. Howard that its contents were allegedly precluding completion of the loan modification. CP 91. Ocwen and Deutsche intentionally delayed as long as possible in order to have the Mandate issued in the Court of Appeals case, which would allow them to seek attorneys' fees and costs against him, but also to induce him to file dismissals of his claims, before telling him that they were taking the position that the settlement agreement and loan modification were not valid. CP 233.

The liens entered against Mr. Howard had no effect whatsoever on the property on the date of the report since they were foreclosed out by the first position lienholder. CP 160-164. The report did list judgments entered against Mr. Howard personally, but any lien rights to real property owned by him terminated when the foreclosure judgment was entered, consistent with the Judgment of Foreclosure, and the Defendants' position in this and other litigation. RCW 61.12.060; 61.12.090. CP 160-164. Mr. Howard's only interest in the property at that time was his right to his homestead

-

¹ Document disclaimer: "THIS IS NOT a title report since no examination has been made of the title to the above-described property. Our search for apparent encumbrances was limited to our Tract Indices, and therefore above listings do not include additional matters which might have been disclosed by an examination of the record title." CP 94.

exemption rights in the amount of \$125,000.00 over and above the debt owed to Deutsche. RCW 6.13.030. Washington adheres to the "first in time, first in right" lien theory.² Deutsche's Deed of Trust was in first position and the Judgment of Foreclosure foreclosed that lien, to the detriment of any lienholder sitting behind it. CP 160-164. But since Ocwen and Deutsche agreed to void the transfer of title, Deutsche would simply have resumed its first lien position.

In an email exchange with Ms. Edling, dated July 25, 2015, she admitted that Ocwen was complaining about alleged property tax arrears, even though it was Ocwen was supposed to be paying them. This was merely another unsupported excuse for not adhering to the contract terms. She later began the assertions about the alleged title defects. CP 79-87. Ms. Edling also admitted that one of the "title issues" was a Lis Pendens that had been filed by Deutsche and which she refused to release until her client's new demands about "clearing title" were satisfied. CP 78-87. Thus, Deutsche and Ocwen were contending that their own pleading was interfering with the clear title on the property. *Id*.

What became clear to Mr. Howard is that Ocwen and Deutsche intentionally tricked him into dismissing all of his pending claims in return for a settlement agreement and loan modification that they never intended

² Homann v. Huber, 38 Wn.2d 190, 198, 228 P.2d 466 (1951).

to fulfill. CP 1-11; 97-100. Ocwen, acting as the agent for Deutsche, breached the terms of the loan modification and settlement agreement, and it did so intentionally because they never intended to adhere to any of the proffered terms. CP 1-11; 97-100.

When Mr. Howard filed his lawsuit, he named Deutsche in its individual capacity, as well as in its capacity as the trustee of the securitized trust that owned Mr. Howard's loan, and which acquired title to the property through judicial foreclosure. CP 1-46. On April 1, 2016, Deutsche, in its individual capacity, moved to dismiss those claims (CP 138-146) which was supported by a Request for Judicial Notice that provided the trial court with documentation relating to the entire history of the litigation. CP 147-228.

Ocwen and Deutsche in its capacity as trustee also filed a Motion to Dismiss. CP 229-254. They argued that because there was vague language about the need for "clear title" (with no definition of what that meant in light of the condition of the title and Deutsche's previous position as the first position lienholder) buried in the documentation, Mr. Howard did not fulfill its terms. They maintained that Deutsche was acting within its rights to refuse to honor the loan modification that they had proffered to Mr. Howard in order to get him to dismiss his pending appeals. CP 231-232. They maintained that it was just "sour grapes". *Id*.

Ocwen and Deutsche also contended that the "condition precedent, 'that a clear and marketable title policy can be issued" was breached, without providing any evidence whatsoever that such a policy could not be issued nor explaining why Deutsche returning to its original first lien position was not evidence of its "clear title". CP 234. Including the fact that title to the property had already transferred to Deutsche free and clear of all of those liens. CP 233-234. "A Superior Court judgment and subsequent sheriff's sale in 2013 extinguished [Mr. Howard's] interest in the subject property." CP 231. All of this was ignored by the trial court and on appeal.

The Judgment of Foreclosure also makes this clear, referring first to the Deed of Trust signed by Mr. Howard and recorded on August 17, 2007 as Document No. 20070817001240 in the records of King County, as supporting a "valid lien for the amount of Deutsche Bank's judgment set forth in paragraph 1 above against all the real property . . ." CP 163. It notes that the "lien is **superior to any interest, lien, or claim of Howard, the Third-Party Defendants, or any of them, in the Real Property."** CP 163 (emphasis added). At Paragraph 5, the Judgment requires that:

Howard and all persons claiming through or under him, as purchasers, encumbrancers, or otherwise; and any and all other persons claiming any right, title, or claim of interest in and to the Real Property or any part thereof subsequent to August 9, 2007, all such claims being inferior and subordinate to Deutsche Bank's deed of trust lien, are hereby forever foreclosed of all interest, lien or claim in the

Real Property described above and every portion thereof excepting only any statutory right of redemption as any of them may have for an eight month period pursuant to RCW 6.23.020(1)(a).

CP 163-164.

Ocwen and Deutsche glossed over the particulars of their offer and the self-evident limitations of the Lien and Encumbrance Search (as well as the falsehoods contained therein) and minimized their intentional acts by calling the offer of a loan modification and settlement agreement an "olive branch" to Mr. Howard, as if it were a gift. Instead, it was an attempt to put an end of lengthy and difficult litigation for everyone involved. But here, Ocwen and Deutsche knew and had known for years about the judgment liens since they were identified in the judicial foreclosure proceeding, and most of them were included as Third-Party Defendants. CP 161-162 (note the case caption). Ocwen and Deutsche also knew that Mr. Howard had not redeemed the property from the foreclosure. RCW 6.23.020(1)(a). CP 161. At the time of the offer, Deutsche owned the Property free and clear of liens following the sale and the redemption period. CP 160-164; 182-206.

Hearing on the Motions to Dismiss was held on June 10, 2016 and Mr. Howard did not file a Response, instead filing a Motion to Continue, apparently believing that he therefore did not need to file a response. CP

407-413. Mr. Howard appeared at the hearing on June 10, 2016 and participated in oral argument. CP 417.

Because Mr. Howard was acting *pro se* and had not filed a responsive brief, his oral argument constitutes the "arguments" that he made to the trial court. They were framed by the Court's questions and his responses, including references to the documents that were part of the record under review. The Court entered an Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss filed by Deutsche. Mr. Howard filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on July 5, 2016. CP 430-431. An appeal ensued.

V. STANDARD ON REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing acceptance of review by the Supreme Court. Mr. Howard maintains the Appellate Court's decision is conflict with this Court's decisions regarding the proper application of CR 12(b)(6) and is in conflict with case law.

VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. Division I's Decision is not supported by Washington case law.

When rendering its decision affirming the trial court's Order, the Court of Appeals erroneously found in its Opinion that Mr. Howard did not make many of the arguments below. Op. 7-8. However, a review of the hearing transcript confirms that he did make those arguments, although

they were inarticulately presented to the trial court and were a bit convoluted because of his responses to questions raised by the trial court. Mr. Howard and Judge Hill referenced the Complaint and attachments when discussing the arguments he presented. VR 16:4-22:9. Those included Mr. Howard's Verification of the Complaint, as well as his testimony about actions taken in connection with his attempts to comply with the loan modification terms. CP 97-100. Mr. Howard specifically argued that Ocwen and Deutsche were really trying to change the terms of the parties' agreements after he had performed his obligation, and that they had deliberately used language to create the false impression that he had agreed to "clear" liens that were junior to Deutsche's first mortgage lien position, even though those liens were avoided in the judicial foreclosure process. VR 21:9-22:8.

The **only** language in the loan modification addressing title is at Paragraph 2, which reads the modification is subject to "clear title" and that "a clear and marketable title policy can be issued." CP 72. As Mr. Howard noted at oral argument and in his Complaint, the Note and Deed of Trust owned by Deutsche was in first lien position. Therefore, Deutsche **did** have clear title for its lien at all times during the non-judicial and the judicial foreclosure process. There were no liens superior to the first mortgage lien. *Id.*; VR 21:9-22:8.

The loan modification was created and sent to Mr. Howard by Ocwen on behalf of Deutsche, which means that the plain language of the agreement controls. Given Deutsche's lien position, the lack of any other language about title to the property and there being no definition of "clear title" therein, as well as the repeated assertions that the original loan Note and Deed of Trust would remain in full force and effect after rescission of the Judgment of Foreclosure and Confirmation of the Sale. Thus, the reasonable interpretation of the "title" language in Paragraph 2 is that which Mr. Howard argued – that Deutsche have "clear title" solely in relation to its first position lien. There is nothing in the modification agreement which would lead to a reasonable conclusion that Mr. Howard was agreeing to clear any or all of the subordinate liens on the property, which had no bearing whatsoever to the Deutsche lien. CP 71-78.

Mr. Howard also argued below that Ocwen and Deutsche intentionally delayed as long as possible so that the Mandate issued in the Court of Appeals case would be issued and allow them to seek attorneys' fees and costs against him, but also to induce him to file dismissals of his claims, before telling him that the Modification Agreement was not valid. CP 233; VR 16:22-22:8.

1. Standard on Review at the Court of Appeals.

Mr. Howard argued to the Court of Appeals that it should apply that standard for review as one under CR 12(b)(6). Instead, the Court of Appeals applied the CR 56 analysis in spite of the ruling.

A trial court may grant dismissal for failure to state a claim under CR 12(b)(6) only if "it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief." *Bowman v. John Doe*, 104 Wn.2d 181, 183, 704 P.2d 140 (1985); *Orwick v. Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 254, 692 P.2d 793 (1984). CR 12(b)(6) motions should be granted "sparingly and with care". *Orwick*, at 254.

Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987). Thus, there could be no affirmance of the trial court.

When determining whether an issue of material fact exists on summary judgment, a court must construe all facts and inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008); *McNabb v. Dep't of Corrs.*, 163 Wn.2d 393, 397, 180 P.3d 1257 (2008). Summary judgment is proper if reasonable minds could reach only one conclusion from the evidence presented. *Cano-Garcia v. King County*, 168 Wn.App. 223, 277 P.3d 34 (Div. II 2012), *review denied* 175 Wn.2d 1010, 287 P.3d 594. Mr. Howard maintains that even under this standard, the trial court erred.

2. The Court of Appeals did not engage in the required analysis of the facts and did not apply the law appropriately.

Ocwen and Deutsche argued below that "a title report obtained on

the Property revealed that title was not clear . . . "CP 234 (lines 10-12).

This was a blatant misrepresentation as the Lien and Encumbrance Search was explicitly identified internally as "NOT (sic)" being a title report.

Defendants did not advise the trial court that the document was facially in error (indicating that title was vested in Mr. Howard), nor that it was not a title report and merely a listing of potential liens and encumbrances from the title company's own records. CP 229-254. That information was contained in the attached documents, but Defendants had an obligation not to mislead the trial court with assertions that the document was a "title report" and that its contents confirmed a defective lien position by Deutsche. RPC 3.3.

Similarly, Defendants did not confirm that the vacation of the Judgment of Judicial Foreclosure (CP 160-164) would have restored Deutsche' first position lien status. CP 229-254. See, In re Foreclosure of Liens, 117 Wn.2d 77 (1991). Although the Foreclosure case involved vacation of a tax foreclosure judgment, it nevertheless makes clear that when a judgment of foreclosure is vacated, the lienholders retain the position they had before the foreclosure. This Court held that the trial court did not have jurisdiction to allow the sale to occur, so the transfer was void. It is relevant here because it demonstrates what happens when a foreclosure judgment is vacated. Deutsche would resume its first lien

position by way of the Deed of Trust, rendering the other liens irrelevant to Deutsche. *Id.* The Defendants should not benefit from misleading the trial court and the Court of Appeals should not have allowed the Defendants' wrongdoing to be rewarded, especially when the party on the other side is representing himself *pro se*.

3. There were genuine issues of material fact present before the trial court which precluded granting summary judgment or dismissal.

Mr. Howard received an unsolicited loan modification and a settlement agreement from Ocwen. Based upon a reasonable person's understanding of the "objective manifestations of the contracts", he accepted their terms on the date to which the acceptance time had been extended. CP 1-11; 97-100. *See, Wash. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. McNaughton Group,* 179 Wn.App. 319, 319 P.3 805 (Div. 1, 2014); *Hogland v. Meeks,* 139 Wn.App. 854, 170 P.3d 668 (2012). He returned the signed documents, made the payments required, dismissed claims and then waited. He believed that the entire matter of fighting to save his home would soon be over. *Id.*

While the history of contract interpretation in Washington case law makes clear that the "objective" standard is applied to contract scrutiny, there must be "mutual assent" (otherwise referred to historically as a meeting of the minds). When a court is required to determine whether a

party intended to contract, that party will be held to what a reasonable person in the same position as the other person would conclude that his agreement would mean. *Nye v. Univ. of WA*, 163 Wn.App. 875, 260 P.3d 1000, review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1018, 272 P.3d 247 (2012); *City of Everett v. Sumstad's Estate*, 95 Wn.2d 853, 631 P.2d 366 (1981).

Here, in light of what the Defendants were proposing (restoring title to the Property in him with a first lien position under modified loan terms), Mr. Howard's reasonable belief was that Deutsche would have clear title to the property once "vesting" was restored, because any other liens were inferior to Deutsche's Deed of Trust. CP 1-49; 97-100.

Mr. Howard performed under the terms of the proffered unilateral contracts by signing and making the first two payments due under the loan modification. *Id.* Because the loan modification was a unilateral contract, meaning that Mr. Howard could not negotiate its terms and had to "take it or leave it", when he performed according to the terms of the contract, it confirmed that he had accepted the contract. His "substantial performance" was enough to accept the contractual terms. *Storti v. Univ. of WA*, 330 P.2d 159, 306 Ed. Law Rep. 1088 (Wash. 2014). Further, the payments made by Mr. Howard constituted the contractual requirement of "consideration". *Id.* Mr. Howard reasonably expected that once he had performed by paying the consideration he would receive the benefit he had

been promised in exchange and he relied upon it to his detriment by dismissing his other appeals. Ocwen and Deutsche then breached those terms by refusing to honor them, only after they gained what they wanted. Their actions were based upon a false assertion that there was "title report" prohibition on completing the transaction. CP 229-254. RCW 60.11.090.

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