FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/17/2018 4:26 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95863-7 (Court of Appeals No. 75593-5-I) Division I

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RYAN HOWARD,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

### OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC,

Defendants/Respondents.

### ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Emilie K. Edling, WSBA #45042 HOUSER & ALLISON, APC 9600 S.W. Oak Street, #570 Portland, OR 97223 (503) 914-1383 Attorneys for Respondent Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC; Deutsche Bank National Trust Company; and Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for IndyMac INDA Mortgage Loan Trust 2007-AR7, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2007-AR7

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

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny Howard's Petition. The Petition was untimely and extraordinary circumstances do not exist. Rather, Howard failed to point to an error, raise a legitimate issue warranting reversal, or show that this Court's criteria for review are satisfied.

### A. Howard's Petition for Review was Untimely and Should Be Denied on that Basis

It is undisputed that Howard's Petition for Review was untimely. This Court allows untimely Petitions "only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of injustice . . . ." RAP 18.8(b). The "standard set forth in RAP 18.8(b) is rarely satisfied." *State v. Hand*, 308 P.3d at 589 (internal citations omitted). Here, Howard has raised a sympathetic argument for an extension because his Petition was only three hours late under this Court's rules. RAP 18.6. However, the Petition was improper and was followed by two amended petitions, the last of which was received June 5, 2018, 18 days after Howard's deadline. More importantly, Howard's explanation for the untimely Petition is puzzling and incomplete. Howard explains that he did not make a decision on whether to proceed with the Petition or retain counsel to do so until May 9, 2018, seven days before the Petition was due and only three days before

his counsel was scheduled to go on a week-long vacation. (June 4, 2018 Motion for Extension at 2.) Howard is aware from a prior Petition to this Court that this Court imposes a strict deadline for Petitions for Review. (CP 227.) Howard fails to explain why he did not retain an attorney earlier to allow adequate time for the preparation of the Petition. Combined with the fact that the Petition has no merit, fails to address the relevant legal arguments as to why clear title is important for a modified loan (just as those arguments were ignored when Howard failed to file a Reply Brief), makes misrepresentations of fact, and does not discuss this Court's criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b), Howard has failed to show a gross miscarriage of justice that would arise to the level of "extraordinary circumstances" warranting an extension of time.

# B. Howard's Petition for Review is Unsupported by Authority and Raises No Legitimate Legal Issue

Even if this Court considers the Petition on the merits, the Petition fails to establish error in the proceedings below. Howard has waived his right to assert arguments not asserted to the trial court, which include all arguments other than his claim of "substantial performance." *Howard*, 2018 WL 1152012, at \*1; *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App. 104, 107, 147 P.3d 641 (2006). As discussed further below, he has failed to show any grounds for liability against Defendants.

## 1. <u>Howard's own complaint documented his failure to satisfy a contract condition</u>

The Washington Court of Appeals correctly held that Howard's loan modification agreement was expressly made subject to clear title, a condition precedent that Howard did not perform. Howard, No. 75593-5-I, 2018 WL at \*4. A plaintiff cannot "maintain an action on a contract" unless he first complies "with the conditions precedent contained therein." Ross v. Harding, 64 Wn. 2d 231, 240-41, 391 P.2d 526 (1964). Here, the Loan Modification Agreement explicitly stated it was "subject to clear title and will be effective on July 1, 2015, on condition that a clear and marketable title policy can be issued." (CP 72, ¶ 2.) The use of the language "on condition" is unambiguous and, as a matter of law, this language establishes a condition precedent to performance under the contract. Tacoma Northpark, LLC v. NW, LLC, 123 Wn. App. 73, 80, 96 P.3d 454 (2004). Plaintiff's own Complaint and exhibits acknowledged that he was unable or unwilling to remove the liens on the Property. (CP 80.) The refusal to clear substantial defects in title was a failure of a condition precedent, which excused Defendants from performing.

2. <u>Howard's subjective belief of the meaning of "clear title" is irrelevant; nor did Howard "substantially perform"</u>

Howard contends that he had a reasonable belief that the Trust would have clear title to the Property after the Loan Modification was implemented, and that his "substantial performance" of the contract terms

was sufficient to require completion of the contract. (Petition at 16.) Howard was not entitled to, for the first time on appeal, offer evidence or conclusory statements regarding his subjective belief about the terms of the contract - nor could Howard have offered such evidence to the trial court. Go2Net, Inc. v. C I Host, Inc., 115 Wn. App. 73, 84, 60 P.3d 1245, 1251 (2003). Admissible extrinsic parol evidence does not include evidence of a party's unilateral or subjective intent as to the meaning of a contract word or term or evidence that modifies the written contract. Id. Accord Olympia Police Guild v. City of Olympia, 60 Wn. App. 556, 559, 805 P.2d 245, 247 (1991) ("Unilateral and subjective beliefs about the impact of a written contract do not represent the 'intent of the parties" and are not admissible). Rather, Washington law applies an "objective theory of contract interpretation," in which the courts ascertain the intent of the parties "from the ordinary meaning of the words within the contract." Nye v. Univ. of Washington, 163 Wn. App. 875, 882-83, 260 P.3d 1000, 1004 (2011). Washington Courts give "words in a contract their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent." Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn. 2d 493, 503-04, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005).

The condition of "clear title" already has an established definition under Washington law. It requires marketable title to property, or in other words, title that is "free from reasonable doubt and such as reasonably well informed and intelligent purchasers, exercising ordinary business caution, would be willing to accept." *Hebb v. Severson*, 32 Wn.2d 159, 168, 201 P.2d 156, 159, 166 (1948). *See also In re Britt*, 385 B.R. 800 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2007) ("clear title means that the goods are not subject to a valid security interest or a valid claim of title of a third person that would expose the buyer to a lawsuit to protect its title."); 77 Am. Jur. 2d Vendor and Purchaser § 81 (2017 West) ("With respect to a purchaser's right to marketable title in real property, the terms 'good title,' 'marketable title,' 'clear title,' and 'perfect title' ordinarily are considered synonymous and indicative of the same character of title.") (citing *Hebb*, 32 Wn. 2d 159). *See also* 77 Am. Jur. 2d Vendor and Purchaser § 81, at n. 2 ("A 'clear title' means a good title, and 'good title' means a marketable title."). Plaintiff cannot substitute his own subjective understanding of a term in order to defeat the ordinary and common meaning of the term. *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 695, 974 P.2d 836, 842 (1999).

Further, Howard did not substantially perform the condition precedent of clear title – indeed, he did not perform the condition at all. Rather, Washington Courts hold that a condition of "clear title requires the seller to deliver marketable title *before* the contract will be enforced." *Barber v. Peringer*, 75 Wn. App. 248, 252, 877 P.2d 223, 226 (1994) (citing cases). Further, the "doctrine of substantial performance is applied in rare instances where only 'minor and relatively unimportant deviations' remain to accomplish full contractual performance." *Taylor v. Shigaki*, 84 Wn. App 723, 729, 930 P.2d 340 (1997) (quoting 17A Am. Jur. 2d

Contracts, § 634 (1991)). Where the Loan Modification Agreement envisioned that the Property would secure a debt for over one million, but reduced in the agreement to \$736,250.00 (CP 72, ¶ 3.a.), providing clear title cannot be said to have been a minor or unimportant requirement.

## 3. <u>Howard's interpretation of the term "clear title" is contrary to Washington law and would render the term meaningless</u>

Howard's belief that this Court should ascribe a "reasonable meaning" to the clear title condition because the Trust would have a first position lien after the Agreements were completed (Petition at 18) is Under Washington law, a refinance or modification – as envisioned by the Agreements – creates a new obligation that may be deemed inferior to other liens. Columbia Cmty. Bank v. Newman Park, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 566, 582, 304 P.3d 472, 479 (2013). A lender that enters into a modification of its deed of trust or mortgage runs the risk of having its lien subordinated to other lienholders already on title. Id. The refinancing lender enjoys no automatic right of priority; rather, a refinancing lender must satisfy the requirements of equitable subrogation in order to obtain the same lien priority. *Id.* Priority can be denied by courts if any change in the loan terms is materially prejudicial to the interests of the junior lienholders, Kim v. Lee, 145 Wn. 2d 79, 89-90, 43 P.3d 1222 (2001), or if "prejudice to any innocent person will result . . . . " Columbia Cmty. Bank, 177 Wn.2d at 582. Whether a loan is prejudicial to others and/or entitled to equitable subrogation has and will be a subject of litigation in numerous cases. *See, e.g., Kim*, 145 Wn. 2d at 90 (finding equitable subrogation prejudicial). *See also Bel Air & Briney v. City of Kent*, 190 Wn. App. 166, 178, 358 P.3d 1249, 1254-55 (2015), *rev. denied*, 185 Wn. 2d 1008, 366 P.3d 1243 (2016) (discussing parties' argument regarding whether equitable subrogation was prejudicial).

Even if the Agreements in this case satisfied the requirements for equitable subrogation, the ability of a party modifying a loan to establish a right to equitable subrogation through litigation is not the same thing as having clear title on a property. Rather, clear title is title that is *not* likely to be the subject of litigation. Hebb, 32 Wn.2d at 166 (noting clear title enables the holder to hold land in peace from suit); Wilson v. Korte, 91 Wash. 30, 33, 157 P. 47, 49 (1916) (noting marketable title is title "free from hostile claims and possible litigation."). In Miller v. Calvin Philips & Co., for instance, the Supreme Court of Washington equated the term "marketable title" with "indubitable title," noting that a party entitled to marketable title "cannot be compelled to buy a lawsuit, or a title that will involve him in litigation, but that he has a right to a title which will enable him to hold possession of his land in peace and security." 44 Wash. 226, 229, 87 P.264, 265 (1906). Here, the Property was encumbered by over a million dollars in judgments owed by Plaintiff, and the priority of the Trust's title would have had to be litigated and determined by the courts in order to establish seniority over these debts. This is not clear title. Indeed, Plaintiff's interpretation of clear title would render the term

meaningless, as it would offer no security to the Trust that its new modified loan in excess of \$700,000 had priority, but instead open the Trust to litigation to determine priority.

### 4. Defendants did not breach a duty of good faith and fair dealing

Howard's argument that Defendants breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing (Petition at 19) misunderstands the law and blatantly misrepresents the record. The doctrine of good faith and fair dealing may not be used to add or contradict express contract terms and the duty only arises where a contract allows one party discretionary authority over a term, such as the determination of price or quantity. *Rekhter v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 180 Wn.2d 102, 113, 323 P.3d 1036, 1041 (2014). "By contrast, no implied duty of good faith and fair dealing exists where a party has unilateral authority to do or not do something under a contract," *New Vision Programs Inc. v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 193 Wn. App. 1011 (2016), such as require compliance with conditions precedent. Accordingly, the duty is inapplicable to the Trust's decision not to proceed with an Agreement containing a condition precedent unfulfilled by Plaintiff, and which would jeopardize the Trust's first priority lien status of a substantial debt.

Further, there was no unfair conduct toward Howard. Howard asserts that Defendants intentionally delayed "as long as possible in order to have the Mandate issued in the Court of Appeals case, which would allow them to seek attorneys' fees and costs against him, but also to

induce him to file dismissals of his claims, before telling him that their agreements were not valid." (Petition at 12.) This is completely false. Plaintiff's Petition for Review to this Court was dismissed because Plaintiff chose not to file the requested motion for extension by June 10, 2015, a date that preceded generation of the Lien and Encumbrance Search. (CP 91.) Howard had full disclosure of the contents of the Agreements before execution and before he abandoned his Petition (CP 87), and the Agreements did not require him to do. (CP 59, ¶ 2). Moreover, Defendants did not file any additional motion for fees and had no control over when the mandate would issue. Indeed, on July 23, 2015, Defendants offered to stipulate to an extension that would reactive Howard's appeal before this Court (CP 84), well before the mandate issued on September 9, 2015. (CP 323-331.) Finally, the Agreements did not induce to Howard dismiss any claims; rather, a stipulated dismissal was prepared in conjunction with the Agreements (CP 59, ¶2) and it was never filed due to abandonment of the Agreements. Indeed, it was Howard who demanded that the stipulated dismissal be filed in spite of his inability to clear title. (CP 81.)

Finally, Defendants are not responsible for Plaintiff's misinterpretation of plain and ordinary contract terms, or his failure (if this occurred) to thoroughly read the Agreements. "The whole panoply of contract law rests on the principle that one is bound by the contract which

he voluntarily and knowingly signs." Nat'l Bank of Washington v. Equity

Inv'rs, 81 Wn. 2d 886, 912, 506 P.2d 20, 36 (1973).

C. Howard's Petition Does Not Satisfy any Requirement

for Acceptance of Review

Howard's Petition fails to satisfy this Court's requirements for

review under RAP 13.4(b). The Petition fails to even identify the relevant

criteria, let alone explain how they are satisfied. Rather than satisfy any

criteria or present legal authority showing error, this Petition merely

presents another delay tactic to avoid a final resolution of the case.

V. <u>ENTITLEMENT TO ATTORNEY FEES</u>

The Trust respectfully requests that the Court award reasonable

attorney's fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1(a) and the Agreements

Howard claims he executed, which allow an award of fees. *Howard*, 2018

WL 1152012, at \*5. (CP 59, ¶ 3.)

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, the Trust requests that this Court

deny Howard's Petition for Review.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 17th day of August, 2018.

By: *s/ Emilie Edling* 

Emilie Edling, WSBA #45042

E-Mail: <a href="mailto:eedling@houser-law.com">eedling@houser-law.com</a>

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondents

19